
 
 

 
 
 
TO:  Panel Chair, Southern Regional Planning Panel  
 
FROM: Manager Development Services, Wagga Wagga City Council 
 
DATE:  12 May 2016 
 
SUBJECT: (JRPP no 2016STH013) DA16/0135 Electricity Generating Works (Solar 

Energy System) and 3 Lot Torrens Title subdivision and 260 Lot 
Community Lot subdivision 

 
Summary 
 
The above-mentioned development application is being considered by the Southern 
Joint Regional Planning Panel (SJRPP) on 17 May 2016. The purpose of this memo is 
to to advise the Panel of a potential risk that the Office of Environment and Heritage 
(OEH) may not support an approval of the application. 
 
Background 
 
Although the site is not mapped by Council as a site containing known significant 
cultural and/or heritage values or items, the SEE submitted with the application states 
that two (2) aboriginal heritage assessments have been undertaken previously on the 
site due to development within and proximal to the proposed development site. 
 

 The heritage assessment completed by Kelleher Nightingale in 2008 to support 
the Wagga Wagga Local Environmental Study included a survey of the subject 
site. This survey identified an aboriginal artefact in a recently ploughed 
paddock, which is located approximately 196m north-east the proposed solar 
panel system. The location of the artefact (BIFA- AGD66) is indicated on the 
attached plan.  

 The environmental assessment completed by AECOM in 2010 in relation to the 
Bethungra to Wagga looping gas pipeline confirms Aboriginal heritage field 
survey of the subject site within a 50-100m buffer of the pipeline easement. An 
artefact scatter was identified during the assessment. The location of the 
artefact (APA-36) is indicated on the attached plan. The artefact is located well 
south of the subject site on adjacent land (approximately 180 metres to the 
south-west) and is not impacted by the project. 

 
The application was referred to the Office of Environment and Heritage with a request 
to provide comment on or before 11 May 2016. Council received a formal copy of 
OEH’s response yesterday (attached hereto). The OEH is of the opinion that the 
heritage assessment submitted with the application does not adequately address the 
potential impacts on Aboriginal Cultural Heritage, and may not provide a defence for 
the strict liability offence under the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974 (NPW Act) 
relating to the harm of Aboriginal objects. 
 
Council’s s79c assessment report indicates that it is satisfied with the information 
provided in the application particularly given the fact that the footprint of the proposed 
solar system is clear of the location of the identified artefact on the subject site.  The 
risk associated with Aboriginal Cultural Heritage on the site was considered low and as 
such Council’s assessment was completed and uploaded of the SJRPP’s website with 
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a note that the Office of Heritage and Environment comments are outstanding. The 
following conditions were recommended by Council to be imposed: 
 

3.     Prior to the issue of the Construction Certificate, a Construction Management Plan 
shall be prepared and submitted for approval by Council. The approved plan shall 
be implemented during construction of the solar electricity system. The plan shall 
include a range of management controls as outlined in the approved SEE and 
other conditions listed in this consent. The plan shall include, but not limited to: 

· Aboriginal Heritage Management  
· Construction Traffic Management  
· Bush Fire Management  
· Waste Management  
· Erosion and Sediment Control  
· Noise Management  
· Dust Management  
· Soil and Water Management   
· Integrated Site Restoration  
· Operation hours 
· Security Management 
· Requirements and conditions of the APA Group (refer to condition 38 of     

this Consent)  
· Requirements and conditions of Essential Energy to connect to the 

state power grid (refer to condition 39 under of this consent).  

 

20.   A ‘no harm zone’ must be established around the location of the identified 
Aboriginal artefact that is located on the site in consultation with the local 
Aboriginal community stakeholders. The Due Diligence Code of Practice for the 
Protection of Aboriginal Objects in NSW must be used by individuals or 
organisations who are contemplating undertaking activities which could harm 
Aboriginal objects and shall be implemented as part of the Construction 
Management Plan. This condition is to be read with condition 27 of this consent. 

27.   If any Aboriginal object is discovered and/or harmed in, on or under the land, the 
proponent must not further harm the Aboriginal object, immediately cease all 
work at the particular location, secure the area so as to avoid further harm to the 
Aboriginal object, notify the OEH as soon as practicable on 131 555, providing 
any details of the Aboriginal object and its location, and not recommence any 
work at the particular location unless authorised in writing by OEH. 

NOTE:          The Due Diligence Code of Practice for the Protection of Aboriginal 
Objects in NSW must be used by individuals or organisations 
who are contemplating undertaking activities which could harm 
Aboriginal objects. This code will provide a process whereby a 
reasonable determination can be made whether or not Aboriginal 
objects will be harmed by an activity, whether further 
investigation is warranted and whether the activity requires an 
Aboriginal Heritage Impact Permit. Due diligence may also be 
exercised by complying with industry-specific codes of practice 
that have been adopted under the National Parks and Wildlife 
Regulation 2009. 

 
Contrary to the above, the OEH is taking a more conservative approach to the 
development proposal and have suggested that the applicant demonstrate due 
diligence in the prevention of harm to Aboriginal objects and at least conduct a ‘walk-
over’ visual inspection utilising relevant skills to identify Aboriginal objects prior to the 
application being determined.  In the event that any other objects are discovered, the 
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OEH will require a site recording and further and appropriate cultural assessment, and 
if an object is to be harmed by the development, then an Aboriginal Heritage Impact 
Permit application would be required. The actual Aboriginal Heritage Permit (if 
applicable) may be issued post approval. 
 
If no additional Aboriginal objects are identified by the assessment, OEH would then 
support the inclusion of the proposed conditions in Council’s s79C report. 
 
The way forward 
 
The applicant’s consultant has advised Council that a further assessment in 
accordance with the OEH will be undertaken in the coming days and that a report to 
this effect will be provided to the OEH and Council. The OEH have also indicated that 
they will review the additional information once the relevant documentation has been 
provided to them with the intent to have a response ready to Council prior to the 
scheduled SJRPP meeting on Tuesday, 17 May 2016. 
 
There is an obvious risk involved by virtue of the fact that the applicant may not be able 
to provide the information to the OEH in time to make a proper assessment and there 
is also a risk that the OEH may not support the application, or based on the timing of 
their earlier response met the required deadline to provide a response to 
Council/JRPP. In addition, there would be very little time for the members of the 
SJRPP to view the relevant documentation prior to the meeting. 
 
In light of the above Council seeks advice from the Panel Secretariat / Panel Members 
as to whether it would be deemed appropriate to defer the application to be decided at 
a future date or to wait until the scheduled meeting Tuesday, 17 May 2016 to see what 
eventuates over the next couple of days, recognising that the panel may not be in a 
position to make a decision on the day. 
 
If you have any questions in relation to the above, please contact myself or the 
assessment officer, Adriaan Stander on 02 6926 9562.   
 
Regards 
 
 
 
 
 
Colby Farmer 
Manager Development Services 
 
Attachment 1: Locality of identified aboriginal artifacts 
Attachment 2: Office of Environment and Heritage’s comments, dated 11/05/16 
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